Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

9-10-2008

Carroll v. MBNA American Bank Appellant's Brief Dckt. 34765

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action brought by MBNA America Bank, N.A. (hereinafter "MBNA"), to confirm arbitration awards. Pursuant to Idaho Code Section 7-911, an arbitration award may only be confirmed if there was a contractual agreement between the parties providing that any dispute arising between the parties will be resolved by arbitration. Both the Appellants in this action, David F. Capps and Miriam G. Carroll (hereinafter "Capps and Carroll"), have argued that they did not agree to arbitration. Further, Capps and Carroll have also argued that the laws of the State of Idaho control the dispute, and not the laws of the State of Delaware. MBNA has argued that the laws of the State of Delaware control and that MBNA has properly exercised its right to unilaterally amend the agreement under Delaware law.

B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

MBNA filed an arbitration claim against each of the Appellants with the National Arbitration Forum (hereinafter "NAF"). Capps (R. Vol. I, p.140-43) and Carroll (R. Vol. I, p. 138-9) both timely objected in writing to the arbitration proceeding based on no agreement to arbitrate. MBNA and the NAF arbitrator proceeded over the objections of Capps and Carroll. Capps and Carroll did not participate in the arbitration proceedings. The NAF issued an award letter against Capps (R. Vol. II, p. 389) and against Carroll (R. Vol. I, p. 16). Carroll filed suit against MBNA on September 30, 2005 (case CV 36747 – R. Vol. I, p. 1-7 and p. 8-14) after receiving the award letter and Capps filed suit against MBNA on November 3, 2005 (case CV-36827), both within the 90 day time limit

specified in Idaho Code Section 7-912(b), seeking to have the award letters vacated. MBNA filed to confirm the award letter against Capps through Wilson & McColl, Attorneys at Law in Boise, Idaho, on January 17, 2006 (case CV-2006-5, filed in Lewis County (R. Vol. I, p. 386-89), which became CV-37201 when transferred to Idaho County). MBNA also filed to confirm the award letter against Carroll through Bishop, White & Marshall, Attorneys at Law in Seattle Washington on June 6, 2006 (case CV-37320 – R. Vol. II, p. 398). MBNA filed for Summary Judgment against each of the Appellants, which was denied (R. Vol. I, p. 20-35). On April 20, 2006 the cases (CV-36747 and CV-36827) against MBNA by Capps and Carroll were combined into case CV-36747 (R. Vol. II, p.390).

The District Court held a hearing on the issue of whether there was an agreement to arbitrate. Following the Court's decision on September 14, 2006 (R. Vol I, p. 100-109) that there was an agreement to arbitrate and confirming the award letters, Capps and Carroll filed a Rule 11(a) I.R.C.P. Motion for Reconsideration, followed by an amended Motion for Reconsideration on October 10, 2006 (R. Vol. I, p.110-129), which was ultimately denied on November 9, 2007 (R. Vol. I, p. 338-358). The confirmation case against Capps (CV-37201) was consolidated into the combined case, and post judgment, on December 7, 2007, the confirmation case against Carroll (CV-37320) was also consolidated into the combined case (R. Vol. I, p. 367). Capps and Carroll then appealed the District Court's decision that there was an agreement to arbitrate on November 15, 2007 (R. Vol. I, p. 359-366), and subsequently filed an Amended Notice of Interlocutory Appeal on December 7, 2007 (R. Vol. I, p. 368-375).

C. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Carroll opened a credit card account with MBNA on March 15, 1980 (R. Vol. I, p. 36-7). Capps opened a credit card account with MBNA on February 20, 1999 (R. Vol I. p. 73-4). Carroll provided an affidavit stating that she did not agree to arbitrate any dispute with MBNA and that the original agreement between Carroll and MBNA did not contain an agreement to arbitrate (R. Vol. I, p. 37, L.5-9). Capps provided an affidavit stating that he did not agree to arbitrate any dispute with MBNA and that the original agreement between Capps and MBNA did not contain an agreement to arbitrate (R. Vol. I, p. 74, L.5-9). It is undisputed that the original credit card agreement did not contain an arbitration clause requiring the parties to arbitrate any claims.

MBNA claims to have unilaterally amended the credit card agreement in January of 2000 to include a clause requiring any and all claims to be subject to arbitration with the NAF. Capps and Carroll claim to have not received any notification of arbitration and did not agree to any form of arbitration (R. Vol. I, p. 37, L. 7-8, and p. 74, L. 7-8). MBNA did not produce the original agreement, nor did MBNA include an agreement when filing for confirmation of the arbitration award letters against either Capps or Carroll as required by the Federal Arbitration Act [FAA] in Title 9 U.S.C. § 13. It is undisputed that the transactions involved in this action are for a consumer purpose.

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

ISSUE NO.1

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT A DELAWARE CHOICE OF LAW PROVISION WAS VALID IN IDAHO CONSUMER CREDIT CONTRACTS?

ISSUE NO. 2

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THERE WAS AN AGREEMENT TO ARBITRATE WITHOUT A "MEETING OF THE MINDS?

ISSUE NO. 3

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DECIDING THAT DELAWARE LAW CONTROLLED THE DISPUTE?

ISSUE NO. 4

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING IN FAVOR OF MBNA WHEN
THE APPLICATION FOR CONFIRMATION OF AN ARBITRATION
AWARD WAS DEFECTIVE WHEN FILED?

ISSUE NO. 5

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE ARBITRATION
PROVISION, WHICH WAS ADDED BY A NEGATIVE OPTION WITHOUT
EFFECTIVE NOTICE, DID NOT VIOLATE BASIC CONTRACT
PRINCIPLES, AND WAS SUBSTANTIALLY AND PROCEDURALLY
CONSCIONABLE?

ISSUE NO. 6

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ALLOWING CAPPS' AND CARROLL'S
CONSTITUTIONALLY PROTECTED RIGHT TO A TRIAL BY JURY
(CONCERNING THE ORIGINAL DISPUTE) TO BE WAIVED THROUGH A
"NEGATIVE OPTION" WITHOUT CAPPS AND CARROLL BOTH
KNOWINGLY, INTELLIGENTLY AND VOLUNTARILY CONSENTING TO
THE WAIVER?

ARGUMENT I

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT A DELAWARE CHOICE OF LAW PROVISION WAS VALID IN IDAHO CONSUMER CREDIT CONTRACTS?

A. INTRODUCTION.

This is an action brought by MBNA to confirm arbitration awards. Pursuant to Idaho Code Section 7-911, an arbitration award may only be confirmed if there was a contractual agreement between the parties providing that any dispute arising between the parties will be resolved by arbitration. Both Capps and Carroll have stated in affidavits that they did not agree to arbitration (R. Vol. I, p. 37 and 74). Further, Capps and Carroll have also argued that the laws of the State of Idaho control the dispute, and not the laws of the State of Delaware. MBNA has argued that the laws of the State of Delaware control and that MBNA has properly exercised its right to amend the agreement unilaterally under Delaware law.

B. STANDARD OF REVIEW

When questions of law are presented, the Supreme Court exercises free review and is not bound by findings of the district court, but is free to draw its own conclusions from the evidence presented. <u>Accomazzo v. CEDU Educational Services, Inc.</u>, 135 Idaho 145, 15 P.3d 1153.

The construction and application of a statute or statutes present pure questions of law, which are freely reviewed on appeal. Wilder v. Miller, 135 Idaho 382, 17 P.3d 883.

Review of an arbitrator's award is limited to whether any of the grounds for relief

stated in the Idaho Uniform Arbitration Act (UAA) exist. Idaho Code § 7-912(2004); Pac. Alaska Seafoods, Inc. v. Vic Hoskins Trucking Inc., 139 Idaho 472, 474, 80 P.3d 1073, 1075 (2003).

C. THE IDAHO CREDIT CODE

The State of Idaho has a public policy of protecting its residents against unfair practices by some suppliers of credit, having due regard for the interests of legitimate and scrupulous creditors (Idaho Code Section 28-41-102). Specifically, the Idaho Credit Code states, (I.C. 28-41-102) (See also R. Vol. I, p. 205, L. 21-26)

"(1) This act shall be liberally construed and applied to promote its underlying purpose and policies." That "(2) The underlying purposes and policies of this act are:" ... "(c) To protect debtors against unfair practices by some suppliers of credit, having due regard for the interests of legitimate and scrupulous creditors;"

Pursuant to the Idaho Credit Code: (See also R. Vol. I, p. 204, L. 5-9)

"28-41-204, APPLICABILITY. This act shall apply only to credit transactions for a consumer purpose, except for the following parts, chapters and sections, which shall apply to credit transactions for any and all purposes: (1) Part 1, Chapter 41, Title 28, Idaho Code."

It is undisputed that the transactions involved in this action are for a consumer purpose.

The Idaho Credit Code states (See also R. Vol. I, p. 204, L. 20-29),

"28-41-201. TERRITORIAL APPLICATION. (1) Except as otherwise provided in this section, this act applies to sales and <u>loans</u> made in this state and to <u>modifications</u>, including refinancing, consolidations, and deferrals, made in this state, of sales and <u>loans</u>, wherever made. For purposes of this act a sale, <u>loan</u>, or <u>modification</u> of a sale or <u>loan</u> is made in this state if: ... (b) A consumer who is a resident of this state enters into the transaction with a creditor who has solicited or advertised in this state by any means including, but not limited to, mail, brochure, telephone, print, radio, television, internet or any other electronic means." (Emphasis added).

MBNA has entered into the State of Idaho, advertised by print, television, internet

and other means, and has solicited and conducted business with Idaho residents in the State of Idaho. Capps and Carroll were both residents of the State of Idaho when MBNA claims to have unilaterally amended the credit card agreement. These facts are uncontested and subject MBNA to the conditions of the Idaho Credit Code.

The trial court issued the following statement in its September 14, 2006 MEMORANDUM DECISION AND ORDER (R. Vol. I, p. 107, L. 8-15),

The original credit card agreement in this case contained a choice of law clause under which the parties agreed that Delaware law would govern any issues arising concerning the contract. Under choice of law principles articulated in the Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws § 145 and accepted by the Idaho Supreme Court, Idaho courts give effect to such choice of law provisions unless that chosen forum has no significant relation to the parties or unless the law chosen violates some fundamental public policy of Idaho. Seubert Excavators, Inc. v. Anderson Logging Co., 126 Idaho 648, 651, 889 P.2d 82, 85 (1995) (citing Johnson v. Pischke, 108 Idaho 397, 400, 700 P.2d 19, 22 (1985)). Neither of those two conditions is met in this case. (Emphasis added).

The trial court based its decision that Delaware law controlled on a choice of law clause in the alleged agreement. Even if there was a choice of law provision in the original credit card agreement, the Idaho Credit Code provides: (See also R. Vol. I, p. 205, L. 11-15)

"28-41-201(8) Except as provided in subsection (7) of this section, the following agreements by a buyer or debtor are invalid with respect to regulated credit sales, regulated loans, or modifications thereof, to which this act applies: (a) That the law of another state shall apply." (Emphasis added).

Subsection (7) exempts the transaction if the buyer or debtor is not a resident of this state, which does not apply in this case.

Capps and Carroll argued during the original hearing that the laws and the actions of MBNA under their interpretation of Delaware law was against the public policy of Idaho.

In <u>Bakker v. Thunder Spring-Wareham, LLC</u>, 141 Idaho 185, 108 P.3d 332 (2005), the Supreme Court of Idaho held,

"[3-6] Whether a contract violates public policy is a question of law for the court to determine from all the facts and circumstances of each case. *Quiring v. Quiring*, 130 Idaho 560, 566, 944 P.2d 695, 701 (1997) (citing *Sterns v. Williams*, 72 Idaho 276, 283, 240 P.2d 833, 840 (1952)). Public policy may be found and set forth in the statutes, judicial decisions or the constitution. *Quiring*, 130 Idaho at 566, 944 P.2d at 701."

There is a public policy in Idaho case law against unilateral amendments to agreements. Idaho does not recognize unilateral amendments to contracts or agreements. In <u>Yellowpine Water User's Ass'n v. Imel</u>, 105 Idaho 349, 670 P.2d 54, the Idaho Supreme Court held;

"One party cannot unilaterally change the terms of a contract and attempts to add terms without the consent of all parties are ineffectual."

MBNA's interpretation that Delaware law provides for unilateral amendments to credit card contracts violates the fundamental public policy of Idaho regarding unilateral amendments.

There is also a public policy in Idaho case law against forming agreements without a true "meeting of the minds". In <u>Gulf Employees Federal Credit Union v. Williams</u>, 107 Idaho 890, 693 P.2d 1092, the Idaho Supreme Court held,

"No enforceable contract exists unless it reflects a meeting of the minds and embodies a distinct understanding common to both parties."

MBNA's interpretation that Delaware law allows modifications to credit card contracts by mailing a notice to cardholders in the same envelope as the monthly statement violates the fundamental public policy of Idaho regarding the necessity of a true "meeting of the minds."

There is no meeting of the minds regarding arbitration between Capps, Carroll and MBNA. Carroll has provided her affidavit (R. Vol. I, p. 311 – 312) stating, "7. That I have never voluntarily, knowingly or intelligently agreed to arbitration with MBNA America Bank at any time." and "8. That to the best of my knowledge there is no agreement to arbitrate this dispute, or any dispute, with MBNA America Bank." Capps has also provided his affidavit (R. Vol. I, p. 314 – 315) stating, "7. That I have never voluntarily, knowingly or intelligently agreed to arbitration with MBNA America Bank at any time." and "8. That to the best of my knowledge there is no agreement to arbitrate this dispute, or any dispute, with MBNA America Bank."

Capps and Carroll specifically asked MBNA in discovery "Interrogatory No. 7:

State the evidence you have and/or will use at trial to prove the Plaintiff had knowledge of the alleged Arbitration Agreement." (R. Vol. I, p. 50). MBNA's answer was, "Testimony of Greg Canapp; account records, including the card agreement; and the credit card account statements." There was no evidence whatsoever regarding any knowledge of an arbitration provision on the part of Capps and Carroll provided by Greg Canapp or MBNA. In the District Court's MEMORANDUM DECISION AND ORDER dated May 24, 2006, the Court noted (R. Vol. I, p. 25–26),

"The affidavits of Ms. Carroll and Mr. Capps state that there was no agreement to arbitrate and that they were unaware of any attempt by MBNA Bank to amend their original credit card agreement to obtain one. Gregory Canapp, a Senior Personal Banking Officer at MBNA Bank, states that there was an agreement and purports to attach a copy of the current operative agreement and copies of monthly statements. No such documents are attached, a fact noted by Ms. Carroll and Mr. Capps in their briefs in opposition to the motion for summary judgment. MBNA Bank has taken no steps to remedy this situation."

Clearly there is no actual evidence of any knowledge or agreement on the part of Capps and Carroll to arbitrate this or any dispute with MBNA. There is not, and never has been, a meeting of the minds regarding arbitration between Capps, Carroll and MBNA. There was no distinct understanding regarding arbitration between the parties. Therefore no enforceable agreement regarding arbitration exists.

Capps and Carroll also brought the Idaho Credit Code before the trial court during reconsideration, demonstrating that Idaho had a strong statutory public policy against using the laws of another state in consumer credit contracts. The trial court's response in its November 7, 2007 MEMORANDUM DECISION AND ORDER and its November 8, 2007 AMENDED MEMORAMDUM DECISION AND ORDER was,

"In my Memorandum Decision and Order of September 14, 2006, I held that using the Delaware choice of law clause did not violate Idaho's choice of law principles. I am not persuaded that decision was wrong. Because I find I did not err in applying Delaware's law, I do not address Mr. Capps and Ms. Carroll's discussion of the Idaho Credit Code." (R. Vol. I, p. 336, L. 2-7 and p. 357, L. 5-10 respectively).

In <u>Kirkham v. 4.60 Acres of Land</u>, 100 Idaho 781, 784, 605 P.2d 959, 962 (1980) the court stated,

"However, it is generally held that the trial court abuses its discretion when it fails or refuses to properly apply the law."

While Capps and Carroll initially believed that Delaware law would apply, they gradually came to the realization that MBNA's reliance on its interpretation of Delaware law was creating injustice across the country. MBNA claims that since Capps and Carroll initially believed that Delaware law controlled the dispute, Capps and Carroll have waived any right to raise the issue that Idaho law actually controls the dispute.

The Idaho Credit Code also provides in 28-41-106(1) (See also R. Vol. I, p. 203, L. 10-11),

"Except as otherwise provided in this act, a debtor may not waive or agree to forego rights or benefits under this act."

In <u>Ting v. AT&T</u>, 182 F.Supp.2d 902, 912 (N.D.Cal. 2002) the court evaluated the Lake-Snell survey (included in this case (R. Vol. I, p. 245-275) as a demonstration that the notification scheme for the addition of the arbitration provision is ineffective). The <u>Ting court stated</u>, (at 28, p. 912)

"While I attach less weight to the responses to questions 2-3 and 11, since the form of the questions could have been improved, I could not ignore the clear trend of these answers, which indicate that people are unlikely to read solicitations received in the mail, even if from AT&T. Nor could I ignore their consistency with the results of AT&T's research."

The conclusion of the Lake-Snell survey, regarding the arbitration provision, stated, (R. Vol. I, p. 249, L. 3-8)

"Finally, even after being reminded of the agreement, customers overwhelmingly believe they have not agreed to this provision. Ninety-four percent of customers say they have not agreed to this provision or are unsure (74 percent haven't agreed, 20 percent don't know). Only six percent of customers think they have agreed to this provision. Across demographic groups nearly nine out of ten customers say they have not agreed to this provision."

AT&T's notice of the arbitration provision was mailed in a separate envelope, most of which were marked "Important Notice". MBNA, by mailing out their notice of the arbitration provision as a bill stuffer, even though authorized by a Delaware statute, either knew, or should have known, that its notice would not be seen by a vast majority of its customers. Reliance on the bill stuffer notice for the arbitration provision as authorized under Delaware law is unfair and unscrupulous. The Idaho Credit Code was created to protect Idaho's citizens from just this kind of practice. This method of giving notice of

the arbitration provision, which does not require any recognition or acknowledgment to waive a substantive, constitutionally protected right, violates the fundamental public policy of the State of Idaho.

Any agreement that the laws of another state will apply is invalid under the Idaho Credit Code. The debtor cannot waive his or her rights to protection under the Idaho Credit Code. The wording of the statute is clear and unambiguous. In addition, the choice of Delaware law violates at least three (3) public policies of the State of Idaho. For the trial court to conclude that Delaware law applies is clearly reversible error.

ARGUMENT II.

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THERE WAS AN AGREEMENT TO ARBITRATE WITHOUT A "MEETING OF THE MINDS?"

A. INTRODUCTION

This is an action brought by MBNA to confirm arbitration awards. MBNA claims to have unilaterally amended the cardholder agreement under the laws of Delaware to include an arbitration provision. Capps and Carroll have argued that the laws of the State of Idaho apply, not the laws of the State of Delaware. Capps and Carroll have also argued that there is no "meeting of the minds" on arbitration and that MBNA has provided no proof of a "meeting of the minds" regarding arbitration.

B. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Review of an arbitrator's award is limited to whether any of the grounds for relief stated in the Idaho Uniform Arbitration Act (UAA) exist. Idaho Code § 7-912(2004); Pac. Alaska Seafoods, Inc. v. Vic Hoskins Trucking Inc., 139 Idaho 472, 474, 80 P.3d 1073, 1075 (2003).

C. A MEETING OF THE MINDS IS REQUIRED FOR AN AGREEMENT TO EXIST

In <u>Gulf Employees Federal Credit Union v. Williams</u>, 107 Idaho 890, 693 P.2d 1092, the Idaho Supreme Court held,

"No enforceable contract exists unless it reflects a meeting of the minds and embodies a distinct understanding common to both parties."

There is no meeting of the minds regarding arbitration between Capps, Carroll and MBNA. Carroll has provided her affidavit (R. Vol. I, p. 311 – 312) stating, "7. That I have never voluntarily, knowingly or intelligently agreed to arbitration with MBNA America Bank at any time." and "8. That to the best of my knowledge there is no agreement to arbitrate this dispute, or any dispute, with MBNA America Bank." Capps has also provided his affidavit (R. Vol. I, p. 314 – 315) stating, "7. That I have never voluntarily, knowingly or intelligently agreed to arbitration with MBNA America Bank at any time." and "8. That to the best of my knowledge there is no agreement to arbitrate this dispute, or any dispute, with MBNA America Bank."

Capps and Carroll specifically asked MBNA in discovery "Interrogatory No. 7:

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