Uldaho Law **Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-7-2008

Carroll v. MBNA American Bank Respondent's Brief Dckt. 34765

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

ARGUMENT

A. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT DELAWARE LAW APPLIED.

Appellants' first argues that the trial court erred in finding that the Delaware law applied in confirming the arbitration provisions relating to this action. Appellants' arguments is based upon the theory that the Delaware choice of law provision in the parties' agreement is against the public policy of Idaho pursuant to Idaho Code Section 28-41-201(8) and because it is the public policy of Idaho not to allow unilateral amendments to contracts. The argument below will establish that the trial court did not err in finding that Delaware law applied. Further, in the event it is determined that Idaho law applies in this case, amendment was allowed pursuant to the Idaho Credit Code.

1. IDAHO CODE SECTION 28-41-201(8) DOES NOT APPLY TO THE PARTIES' AGREEMENT.

"Business activities of national banks are controlled by the National Bank Act." Watters v. Wachovia Bank, N.A., 127 S.Ct. 1559, 1564, 167 L. Ed. 2d 389 (2007). The "laws of the States in which national banks or their affiliates are located govern matters the NBA (National Bank Act) does not address." Id. at 1572 (emphasis added); Nagle v. Herold, 30 F. Supp. 905, 906 (W.D. New York 1939) ("The Seneca National Bank of West Seneca is a national bank. Insofar as its contracts are concerned it is subject to the laws of the State of New York, in which it is located."); ;Smiley v. Citibank (South Dakota) N.A., 517 U.S. 735, 737, 116 S. Ct. 1730, 135 L. Ed. 2d 25 (1996) (finding Citibank (South Dakota) N.A. to be located in South Dakota

and applying South Dakota law). Pursuant to <u>Watters</u>, contracts made by national banks are governed by State law. Watters, at 1567.

MBNA America Bank, N.A., was at all relevant times a national bank. See generally, John M. Floyd & Assocs. v. Star Fin. Bank, 489 F.3d 852, 854 (7th Cir. 2007); FIA Card Servs., N.A. v. Klinzing, 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 66421, 3 (W.D. Wis. 2008); Kelly v. MBNA American Bank, 2007 WL 4233671 (D. Del. 2007); Spark v. MBNA Corp., 178 F.R.D. 431 (D. Del. 1998); Copeland v. MBNA Am., N.A., 820 F. Supp. 537 (D. Colo. 1993). Further, MBNA America Bank, N.A., is located in the State of Delaware. [Tr., August, 10, 2006, Exhibits 1 & 2]; FIA Card Servs., N.A. v. Klinzing, 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 66421, 3 (W.D. Wis. 2008); Coleman v. Assurant, Inc., 508 F. Supp. 2d 862, 866 (D. Nev. 2007) (Delaware has a substantial relation with the transaction because that is where headquarters of MBNA is located). Accordingly, the trial court did not err in concluding that Delaware law applied.

2. APPLYING THE CHOICE-OF-LAW PROVISION IS NOT AGAINST THE PUBLIC POLICY OF IDAHO.

Appellants first argue that there is a public policy in Idaho against the unilateral amendment of contracts. Yellowpine Water User's Ass'n v. Imel, 105 Idaho 349, 670 P.2d 54 (1983) ("One party cannot unilaterally change the terms of a contract and attempts to add terms without the consent of all parties are ineffectual."). However, the facts in Yellowpine are distinguishable from those in this case. In Yellowpine, the relationship between the parties rested in an implied contract. Id. at 352. At that time, the agreement did not allow for a fee for involuntary disconnection for nonpayment of a water bill, which was charged. Id. Because the

parties did not consent to the disconnection fee, said fee was not allowed. Id.

In this case, there can be no doubt that Appellants consented to the amendment of the parties' agreement to include arbitration. While, silence or failure to reject an offer usually is not evidence of intent to accept the offer, an offer may be accepted by silence if the offeror has stated or given the offeree reason to understand that assent may be manifested by silence or inaction, and the offeree in remaining silent and inactive intends to accept the offer. Eimco Div. Envirotech Corp. v. United Pacific Ins. Co., 109 Idaho 762, 764, 710 P.2d 672 (Idaho Ct. App. 1985). Unlike Yellowpine, there was evidence that Appellants were mailed notices regarding the amendment of the parties' agreement to include arbitration. [Tr., August, 10, 2006, Exhibits 1]. Pursuant to said notices, if Appellants failed to reject the amendment by a certain date in writing, the arbitration provision would become effective. Id. As found by the trial court, no opt-out letter was received by Respondent. [R. 107]. Therefore, there was in fact consent to the arbitration amendment. The amendment of the parties' agreement to include arbitration cannot be said to be against the public policy of Idaho as there was not a unilateral change the terms without the consent of the parties.

Next, Appellants argue that there is a public policy in Idaho against the forming of contracts without a meeting of the minds. "It long has been settled that no enforceable contract exists unless it reflects a meeting of the minds and embodies a distinct understanding common to both parties." <u>Gulf Chem. Employees Fed. Credit Union v. Williams</u>, 107 Idaho 890, 893, 693 P.2d 1092 (Idaho 1984). "The contract must be specific enough to show that the parties shared a mutual intent." <u>Id.</u> "In general, a contract also must create a mutuality of obligation." <u>Id.</u>

Here, there is no argument that Delaware law allows for an agreement to be amended without a meeting of the minds, and is therefore against the public policy of Idaho. The argument set forth by Appellants is that there was in fact no meeting of the minds. Nevertheless, the record fails to establish that there was a lack of mutuality of obligation, contract specificity or a distinct understanding shared by the parties. As articulated above, there was evidence that Appellants were mailed notices regarding the amendment of the parties' agreement to include arbitration. [TR., August, 10, 2006, Exhibits 1]. The notices specifically stated that if Appellants failed to reject the amendment by a certain date in writing, the arbitration provision would become effective. <u>Id.</u> An opt-out letter was not received by Respondent. [R. 107]. Therefore, there was in fact consent and a meeting of minds to the arbitration amendment. The amendment of the parties' agreement to include arbitration cannot be said to be against the public policy of Idaho.

3. THE IDAHO CREDIT CODE SPECIFICALLY ALLOWS FOR THE AMENDMENT.

In the event it is determined that Idaho law applies in this case, amendment was allowed pursuant to the Idaho Credit Code, which reads:

28-43-203. CHANGE IN TERMS OF OPEN-END CONSUMER CREDIT ACCOUNTS. Whether or not a change is authorized by prior agreement, a creditor may change the terms of an open-end consumer credit account applying to any balance incurred before or after the effective date of the change.

Idaho Code Section 28-43-203. Idaho Code Section 28-41-301 defines open-ended credit agreement as an arrangement which:

- (a) A creditor may permit a debtor, from time to time, to purchase on credit from the creditor or pursuant to a credit card, or to obtain loans from the creditor or pursuant to a credit card;
- (b) The amounts financed and the finance and other appropriate charges are debited to an account;
- (c) The finance charge, if made, is computed on the account periodically; and
- (d) Either the debtor has the privilege of paying in full or in installments or the creditor periodically imposes charges computed on the account for delaying payment and permits the debtor to continue to purchase on credit.

Idaho Code Section 28-41-301.

The agreement between the parties matches the definition of an open-end credit agreement as set forth above. As a result, Respondent was allowed to amend its agreement with Appellants, which, as established above, was properly accomplished.

B. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT THERE WAS AN AGREEMENT TO ARBITRATE AS A MEETING OF THE MINDS CLEARLY EXISTED.

The Appellants do not provide further argument regarding the issue of whether there was a meeting of the minds other than that which was provided in their first argument. As argued and established above, the record fails to establish that there was a lack of mutuality of obligation, contract specificity or a distinct understanding shared by the parties. The trial court did not err in finding that there was an agreement to arbitrate as a meeting of the minds clearly existed.

C. <u>APPELLANTS' THIRD ARGUMENT WAS NOT RAISED BELOW AND</u> SHOULD NOT BE CONSIDERED ON APPEAL.

"Issues not raised below but raised for the first time on appeal will not be considered or

reviewed." Highlands Dev. Corp. v. City of Boise, 188 P.3d 900, 909, (Idaho 2008). At all times before the trial court's September 14, 2006 Memorandum Decision and Order, Appellants conceded and affirmatively stated that Delaware law applied. [R. 107]. Further, at no time between the trial court's September 14, 2006 Memorandum Decision and Order and November 9, 2007 Amended Memorandum Decision and Order did Appellants object to the application of Delaware law based upon Idaho Rules of Evidence 1002, 1003 and 1004. Accordingly, Appellants' third argument cannot be considered or reviewed.

D. <u>APPELLANTS' FOURTH ARGUMENT WAS NOT RAISED BELOW AND SHOULD NOT BE CONSIDERED ON APPEAL.</u>

"Issues not raised below but raised for the first time on appeal will not be considered or reviewed." <u>Highlands Dev. Corp. v. City of Boise</u>, 188 P.3d 900, 909, (Idaho 2008). Appellants argue that Respondent's Application for Confirmation of Arbitration Award was defective when filed pursuant to 9 U.S.C. § 13. However, such argument was never raised below, and therefore, cannot be considered or reviewed.

E. THE PARTIES AGREEMENT TO INCLUDE ARBITRATION WAS NOT UNCONSCIONABLE.

The law regarding whether contracts are unconscionable is best outlined in <u>Lovey v.</u>

<u>Regence Blueshield of Idaho</u>:

When reviewing an unconscionability determination made by the trial court, we must accept the factual findings made by the trial court, as long as they are supported by substantial, competent evidence. Whether, under those facts, a contractual provision is unconscionable is a question of law over which this Court exercises free review. It is not sufficient, however, that the contractual provisions appear unwise or their enforcement may seem harsh.

For a contract or contractual provision to be voided as unconscionable, it must be both procedurally and substantively unconscionable. Procedural unconscionability relates to the bargaining process leading to the agreement while substantive unconscionability focuses upon the terms of the agreement itself.

Procedural unconscionability may arise when the contract "was not the result of free bargaining between the parties." Indicators of procedural unconscionability generally fall into two areas: lack of voluntariness and lack of knowledge. Lack of voluntariness can be shown by factors such as the use of high-pressure tactics, coercion, oppression or threats short of duress, or by great imbalance on the parties' bargaining power with the stronger party's terms being nonnegotiable and the weaker party being prevented by market factors, timing, or other pressures from being able to contract with another party on more favorable terms or to refrain from contracting at all. Lack of knowledge can be shown by lack of understanding regarding the contract terms arising from the use of inconspicuous print, ambiguous wording, or complex legalistic language, the lack of opportunity to study the contract and inquire about its terms, *Id.*; or disparity in the sophistication, knowledge, or experience of the parties.

Substantive unconscionability focuses solely upon the terms of the contract or provision at issue. The contract or provision is substantively unconscionable if it is a bargain that no person in his or her senses and not under delusion would make on the one hand and that no honest and fair person would accept on the other. Factors to consider include whether the contract or provision is one-sided or oppressive. When determining whether a contractual provision is unconscionable, the court must consider the purpose and effect of the terms at issue, the needs of both parties and the commercial setting in which the agreement was executed, and the reasonableness of the terms at the time of contracting.

Lovey v. Regence Blueshield of Idaho, 139 Idaho 37, 42-43, 72 P.3d 877 (Idaho 2003).

Delaware law applies the same principles. As stated in <u>Progressive Int'l Corp. v. E.I. du</u>
Pont de Nemours & Co.:

For a contract clause to be unconscionable, its terms must be "so one-sided as to be oppressive." Put another way, "unconscionability has generally been

recognized to include an absence of meaningful choice on the part of one of the parties together with contract terms which are unreasonably favorable to the other party." Courts have been reluctant to apply the doctrine, recognizing among other things that the parties' "bargaining power will rarely be equal."

Progressive Int'l Corp. v. E.I. du Pont de Nemours & Co., 2002 Del. Ch. LEXIS 91, 37 (Del. 2002)¹.

Notably, Appellants do not provide any legal authority to determine whether a contract is unconscionable. Further, it does not appear that Appellants are basing their argument on "substantive" unconscionability, but rather "procedural" unconscionability. However, lack of voluntariness and lack of knowledge have not been established. There is nothing in the record evidencing high-pressure tactics, coercion, oppression, duress, or a great imbalance in bargaining power. There is nothing in the record evidencing a lack of understanding regarding the contract terms arising from the use of inconspicuous print, ambiguous wording, or complex legalistic

¹ In Graham v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company, 565 A.2d 908 (Del. 1989), the Supreme Court of Delaware held that for a contract to be void due to an imbalance of bargaining power or "unconscionability," the terms of the contract must be so one-sided as to be oppressive or there must be such superior bargaining power in one party that it clearly takes advantage of the other. The Court went on to hold that mere disparity between bargaining power of parties to contract will not support a finding of unconscionability. Id., at 912. Therefore, it follows that, absent evidence of inequality in bargaining power and/or inherent unfairness, the Agreement is valid and enforceable under Delaware law. Appellants have offered no evidence of any inequity in bargaining power. Furthermore, the Delaware Supreme Court has expressly held "the fact that a contract is adhesive does not give rise to a presumption of unenforceability." Id. at 912. The Court went on to note "the adhesion factor is an aid in contract interpretation." Id. The Court reasoned that "because [the defendants] have not argued that [the contract clause] is ambiguous, we have no occasion to apply this rule of construction." The Court further reasoned that "a party to a contract cannot silently accept its benefits and then object to its perceived disadvantages, nor can a party's failure to read a contract justify its avoidance." Id. at 913.

language, the lack of opportunity to study the contract and inquire about its terms, or disparity in the sophistication, knowledge, or experience of the parties. Rather, the record shows that Appellants were mailed notices regarding the amendment of the parties' agreement to include arbitration. [TR., August, 10, 2006, Exhibits 1]. The notices specifically stated that if Appellants failed to reject the amendment by a certain date in writing, the arbitration provision would become effective. <u>Id.</u> An opt-out letter was not received by Respondent. [R. 107]. Nothing in the record suggest that the agreement in question was unconscionable.

F. BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT A VALID ARBIRTATION AGREEMENT EXISTED, THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT APPELLANTS WAIVED THE RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL.

Appellants' last argument is based on their argument that a valid arbitration agreement did not exist between the parties. For all the reasons articulated above, the trial court did not err in finding that such agreement existed and was valid. Accordingly, the trial court did not err in finding that Appellants waived the right to a jury trial.

CONCLUSION

It is urged that the Judgment appealed from be confirmed.